

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

**BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF
MASSACHUSETTS, INC.,**

101 Huntington Ave., Suite 1300,
Boston, Massachusetts 02199,

**BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF
MASSACHUSETTS HMO BLUE, INC.**

101 Huntington Ave., Suite 1300,
Boston, Massachusetts 02199

Plaintiffs,

Case No. _____

v.

ROBERT F. KENNEDY JR., in his official
capacity as Secretary of Health and Human Services,
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

200 Independence Avenue SW
Washington, D.C. 20201,

and

STEPHANIE CARLTON, in her official capacity
as Acting Administrator, Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services,

7500 Security Boulevard
Baltimore, Maryland 21244,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. (“BCBSMA”) and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts HMO Blue, Inc. (“HMO Blue”) (collectively with BCBSMA “Plaintiffs”), by and through undersigned counsel, hereby submit their Complaint for relief against

Defendants Robert F. Kennedy Jr., in his official capacity as Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), and Stephanie Carlton, in her official capacity as Acting Administrator of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), to challenge unlawful, arbitrary and capricious final agency action related to the Star Ratings system for Medicare Advantage and Part D health plan contracts, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 551-559 and 701-706.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Medicare Advantage Star Ratings (“Star Ratings”) are a critical aspect of the Medicare Advantage program, as they are designed to measure a Medicare Advantage Organization’s (“MAO”) quality and performance, which in turn drives enrollment and enhances payments that plans use to improve member benefits. Last year, at least two successful lawsuits were brought against CMS in this Court due to unlawful and arbitrary and capricious conduct in calculating 2024 Star Ratings.¹ This year, numerous MAOs have filed lawsuits challenging CMS’s calculation of 2025 Star Ratings, including three pending in this Court.² Unfortunately, Plaintiffs must join the chorus of MAOs challenging the 2025 Star Ratings due to Defendants’ arbitrary and capricious conduct and actions contrary to law.

¹ See *Elevance Health, Inc. v. Becerra*, 736 F. Supp. 3d 1, 57-58 (D.D.C. 2024); *Scan Health Plan v. HHS*, No. 1:23-cv-03910 (CJN), 2024 WL 2815789, at *4 (D.D.C. June 3, 2024).

² See *Centene Corp. et al. v. Becerra et al.*, No. 4:24-cv-01415 (E.D. Mo. filed Oct. 22, 2024); *HMO Louisiana, Inc. v. U.S. Dep’t of Health and Hum. Servs.*, No. 1:24-cv-02931 (D.D.C. filed Oct. 17, 2024) (pending before Judge Cooper); *Humana Inc. et al. v. U.S. Dep’t of Health and Hum. Servs.*, No. 4:24-cv-01004 (N.D. Tex. filed Oct. 18, 2024); *UnitedHealthcare Benefits of Texas, Inc. et al.*, No. 24-357 (E.D. Tex. filed Sept. 30, 2024); *Elevance Health, Inc. et al. v. Becerra et al.*, No. 24-1064 (N.D. Tex. filed Oct. 31, 2024); *Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. et al. v. U.S. Dep’t of Health and Hum. Servs. et al.*, No. 24-3609 (D.D.C. filed Dec. 27, 2024) (pending before Judge Mehta); *Alignment Healthcare Inc. v. U.S. Dep’t of Health and Hum. Servs. et al.*, No. 25-74, (D.D.C. filed Jan. 10, 2025) (pending before Judge Cooper).

2. Specifically, Plaintiffs are forced to bring this suit to rectify CMS's unlawful application of a "case-mix adjustment" when calculating Plaintiffs' Star Ratings. These case-mix adjustments are not only unlawful, but they can have serious consequences for plans. Indeed, even minor case-mix adjustments in Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers & Systems (CAHPS) survey measure scores can significantly impact plans, including causing a measure score to achieve a lower Star Rating and a plan to achieve a lower overall Star Rating.

3. BCBSMA has suffered severe consequences as a direct result of CMS's violations of law. Specifically, CMS determined the Star Rating for Plaintiffs' contract known as H2230 to be 3.5 Stars and the Star Rating for Plaintiffs' contract known as H2261 to be 3.5 Stars. However, CMS's case-mix adjustments to the contracts' CAHPS raw measure scores negatively impacted the contracts' measure scores, resulting in a lower overall Star Rating. Had CMS followed applicable regulations, both H2230 and H2261 would have achieved 4 Stars instead of 3.5 Stars. Due to CMS's actions, BCBSMA has been damaged by at least \$35 million, which directly harms both Plaintiffs and Medicare beneficiaries as these funds are reinvested in the plans to, among other things, decrease costs and improve member benefits.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This action arises under the Medicare Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1395 *et seq.*; the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), 5 U.S.C. §§ 702 and 706; and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-02.

5. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e).

6. Plaintiffs timely filed the Complaint. *See* 28 U.S.C. § 2401.

PARTIES

7. BCBSMA is a not-for-profit medical service corporation and independent licensee of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association with its principal place of business in Boston, Massachusetts. BCBSMA develops innovative services, benefits, and plans aimed at improving healthcare affordability and the quality of care for each of its members.

8. BCBSMA operates numerous health plans serving residents and businesses in the state of Massachusetts that provide medical and prescription coverage to Medicare beneficiaries under Medicare Parts C and D. BCBSMA and its subsidiaries enter into contracts with Defendants to provide coverage to Medicare beneficiaries under Medicare Parts C and/or D. HMO Blue, a direct subsidiary of BCBSMA, has entered into the following contracts at issue:

- a. HMO Blue has entered a contract with CMS designated as H2230; and
- b. HMO Blue has entered a contract with CMS designated as H2261.

9. BCBSMA is the designated “parent organization” of contracts H2230 and H2261. For each contract, MAOs are required to identify the parent organization, the legal entity that exercises a controlling interest in the organization that holds the actual contract. *See 42 C.F.R. § 422.2.*

10. Defendant Robert F. Kennedy Jr. is sued in his official capacity as the Secretary of HHS. This includes overseeing the operations of CMS. Secretary Kennedy, in his official capacity, is responsible for implementing and complying with federal law, including the federal laws impacted by this action.

11. Defendant Stephanie Carlton is sued in her official capacity as Acting Administrator of CMS, an operating division of HHS. As Acting Administrator, Ms. Carlton is responsible for the administration of the Medicare health program, including Medicare Parts C and

D. Acting Administrator Carlton, in her official capacity, is responsible for implementing and complying with federal law.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

I. The Medicare Advantage Program and Star Ratings

12. HHS administers the Medicare Program through CMS. The Medicare program, authorized under Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, provides healthcare benefits for people 65 and older and under 65 with certain disabilities or diseases.

13. Medicare-eligible individuals may choose to receive medical benefits through Medicare Parts A and B (often referred to as “original” or “traditional” Medicare) or Medicare Part C—known as the Medicare Advantage Program—as enacted by the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003.

14. Under Medicare Parts A and B, individuals may receive Medicare benefits directly from the federal government. *See* 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395c to 1395i-6 (Part A); 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395j to 1395w-6 (Part B).

15. Under the Medicare Advantage Program, CMS contracts with private organizations referred to as Medicare Advantage Organizations (“MAOs”). Medicare eligible individuals may enroll in health plans offered by the MAO and the MAO provides Medicare benefits to their enrollees.

16. Medicare beneficiaries may also obtain prescription drug coverage through Medicare Part D. Part D prescription drug benefits are covered through organizations that contract with CMS to offer health plans that cover prescription drugs. Plans may offer both standalone prescription drug coverage (“PDPs”) for individuals enrolled in traditional Medicare and drug

coverage with a Medicare Advantage plan (an “MA-PD” plan). *See* 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-101(a)(1), (3)(C).

17. In 2008, CMS began publishing annual Star Ratings for MAOs. CMS determines Star Ratings by analyzing certain data sets, ultimately rating each plan on a scale of 1 to 5 Stars. *See* 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-23(o); 42 C.F.R. Part 422, Subpart D. According to CMS, Star Ratings aim to help Medicare beneficiaries “compare the quality of Medicare health and drug plans being offered so they are empowered to make the best health care decisions” and provide “meaningful information about quality, alongside information about benefits and costs, to assist them in comparing plans and choosing the Medicare coverage option that best fits their health needs.”³

18. Star Ratings are based on a 5-Star scale, set in half-star increments, with 1 Star being the lowest rating and 5 Stars being the highest. *See* 42 C.F.R. §§ 422.162(b), 422.166(h)(1)(ii). CMS calculates Star Ratings by individually scoring (1- to 5-Star score) several “measures” that fall into broad categories designed to measure the quality of a plan. CMS calculates the score for each measure, assigns each measure a certain weight, and then calculates an overall weighted Part C and Part D summary Star Rating and overall Stars Rating for each plan.

19. Medicare-eligible individuals can begin to enroll in MAOs during the “annual enrollment period,” which is from October 15, 2024 to December 7, 2024. 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-21(e)(3)(B)(v). Medicare beneficiaries can continue to enroll in plans after the annual enrollment period, during the Medicare Advantage “open enrollment period” that takes place from January 1, 2025 through March 31, 2025. To facilitate the plan selection process and assist Medicare

³ *See, e.g., 2025 Medicare Advantage and Part D Star Ratings*, CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS. (October 10, 2024), <https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/2025-medicare-advantage-and-part-d-star-ratings#:~:text=Approximately%2040%25%20of%20MA%2DPDs,%20or%20more%20stars%20in%202025>.

beneficiaries in choosing the coverage that is right for them, CMS maintains a website known as the “Medicare Plan Finder,” which displays certain information about available plans, including the Star Ratings for the upcoming plan year. *See* 42 C.F.R. § 422.166(h).

20. CMS’s Star Ratings significantly impact enrollment in an MAO. On October 10, 2024, CMS published Star Ratings through the Medicare Plan Finder. Beginning October 15, Medicare beneficiaries, including any agents and brokers who assist them, began to rely upon the ratings in selecting plans. As stated by CMS, Star Ratings are intended to be used by Medicare beneficiaries to identify plans that CMS has identified as higher quality relative to other choices and, therefore, plans with higher Star Ratings have a significant advantage in enrolling beneficiaries.

21. CMS’s Star Ratings also impact member benefits. Under the Congressionally mandated “Quality Bonus Payment” program, MAOs that receive an overall Star Rating of 4 or more are entitled to higher payments from Defendants. MAOs reinvest these funds into plans to improve healthcare affordability and the quality of member benefits and services.

22. MAOs also submit annual bids each year that CMS scores against a benchmark financial target. If an MAO submits a bid below the benchmark, the plan may retain a portion of the savings, referred to as a “rebate.” An MAO’s Star Rating affects the amount of rebate the plan can retain. Specifically, plans with a Star Rating of 3 or lower keep 50% of the rebate; plans with a Star Rating of 3.5 or 4 keep 65% of the rebate; and plans with a Star Rating of 4.5 or 5 keep 70% of the rebate. Plans must use rebates to reduce premiums, coinsurance and/or cost-sharing, and/or increase member benefits. Thus, MAOs with higher Star Ratings can offer more competitive pricing and benefits to potential members and ensure that current members retain existing benefits.

II. How CMS Calculates Medicare Advantage Star Ratings

23. An MAO's annual Star Rating is calculated as the weighted average of its Star Ratings across several individual measures. CMS designates certain measures that it intends to use in any given year for Medicare Advantage, Part D, or MA-PD plans. For 2025 Star Ratings, MA-PD plans are rated on up to 40 unique quality and performance measures applicable to both Part C and Part D, whereas Medicare Advantage-only contracts are rated on approximately 30 Part C measures. Each measure is derived from a specified data source that, pursuant to the applicable statute, must have existed as of November 1, 2023. *See* 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-23(o); *see also* 42 U.S.C. § 1395w-22(e).

24. To calculate an MAO's overall Star Rating, CMS scores each measure on a numerical scale based upon an analysis of the data CMS collects for each specific measure. CMS converts the numerical scores into measure-specific Star Ratings on a five-star scale by determining "cut points" to separate each contract into whole star increments. 42 C.F.R. §§ 422.166(a)(4), 423.186(a)(4). Measure scores for all contracts involve the conversion of granular data across the industry into cut points, so even minor data changes can result in movements in the cut points which in turn can lead to significant changes in an MAO's measure-specific Star Ratings. Because those measure-specific Star Ratings are then used on a weighted basis to calculate the overall Star Rating, even small changes in the cut points can profoundly impact the overall Star Rating.

III. CMS's Methodology for Calculating CAHPS Measure Scores

25. CMS utilizes two detailed methodologies for calculating MA Star Ratings: (1) clustering and mean resampling for non-CAHPS measures; and (2) relative distribution and significance testing for CAHPS measures. 42 C.F.R. §§ 422.166(a)(2), (3); 423.186(a)(2), (3).

26. “CAHPS” refers to the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers & Systems survey, a survey conducted by CMS vendors that measures beneficiaries’ experiences with their health plans. *See, e.g.*, 42 C.F.R. § 422.162(a). CAHPS survey scores are among the categories of data sources used to calculate member experience measures for Star Ratings.

27. Relevant here, for measures that are based on CAHPS survey data, CMS uses the relative distribution and significance testing methodology. 42 C.F.R. § 422.166(a)(3). The regulations provide that the methodology used for CAHPS calculations in fact “accounts for the reliability of scores produced from survey data.” *See* 42 C.F.R. § 422.166(a)(3). Presumably to account for the particular challenges of a survey methodology, the regulations provide for adjustments to an MAO’s individual scores in various circumstances. For example, under the regulations, “no measure Star Rating is produced if the reliability of a CAHPS measure is less than .60.” *See id.* Likewise, the regulations provide additional overrides on the scoring of a CAHPS measure between 1 – 5 Stars, including how an MAO’s score compares to the national average CAHPS score for that measure and/or whether the score is determined to be reliable. *See id.*

28. Despite the clear regulatory methodology, CMS has developed sub-regulatory guidance that deviates from the regulatory requirements. Specifically, CMS applies a “case-mix adjustment” to “take into account differences in the characteristics of enrollees across contracts that may potentially impact survey responses,” such as an enrollee’s age and education. *See CTRS. FOR MEDICARE AND MEDICAID SERVS., MEDICARE 2025 PART C & D STAR RATINGS TECHNICAL NOTES* (“2025 Technical Notes”), at p. 153. Case-mix adjusted scores are then classified into “base groups” by reference to “percentile cut points defined by the current-year distribution of case-mix adjusted contract means.” 83 Fed. Reg. at 16568. Percentile cut points are set at the 15th, 30th, 60th, and 80th percentiles. *See* 42 C.F.R. §§ 422.166(a)(3), 423.186(a)(3).

29. In other words, CMS takes the raw CAHPS score for the contract and then adjusts the score up or down based upon the case-mix for the contract. However, the applicable regulations do not provide for this case-mix adjustment when performing the relative distribution and significance testing methodology to determine the contract's measure-specific Star Rating.⁴ *See, e.g.*, 42 C.F.R. § 422.166(a)(3). Indeed, case-mix adjustments are only referenced with respect to determining the "Categorical Adjustment Index" (which is a different adjustment to Star Ratings required by 42 C.F.R. § 422.166(f)(2)) and the Health Equity Index (which is a new Stars factor that does not apply until the 2027 Star Ratings per 42 C.F.R. § 422.166(f)(3)).

30. After CMS applies this improper case-mix adjustment to the CAHPS data, CMS compares the contract's score to the national weighted average and adjusts a contract's measure Star Rating from the base group if the case-mix adjusted score for the measure transgresses a certain statistical distance away from the measure. CMS's application of the case-mix index and further adjustment thereof is not contemplated by the applicable statute or regulations, and because even small changes in measure scores can cause a measure to achieve a different Star Rating, it can have significant negative impacts. Further, CMS acted contrary to its own regulations—which require a comparison to the "national average"—when it compared the scores to the national weighted average. *See* 42 C.F.R. § 422.166(a)(3).

IV. CMS Acted Arbitrarily and Capriciously and Contrary to Law in Calculating the CAHPS Measure Scores and Overall 2025 Star Ratings in Violation of 42 CFR § 422.166

31. CMS violated its regulations and acted arbitrarily and capriciously when it calculated CAHPS measures by adjusting for the case-mix index.

⁴ CMS also applies a case-mix adjustment to a non-CAHPS measure *C15 - Plan All-Cause Readmissions*, and this case-mix adjustment application is likewise not addressed in the regulations. *See* 2025 Technical Notes, at p. 54-55.

32. CMS's application of case-mix adjustments to Plaintiffs' contracts H2230 and H2261 resulted in arbitrary adjustments for various CAHPS measures. As a result, CMS calculated the overall Star Ratings for contracts H2230 and H2261 at 3.5 Stars instead of 4 Stars.

33. CMS's arbitrary and capricious conduct and unlawful actions caused Plaintiffs at least \$35 million in damages for contracts H2230 and H2261 in the form of diminished member enrollment and lost quality bonus payments, which would be used to increase benefits to the Medicare beneficiaries that Plaintiffs serve.

V. Final Agency Action

34. CMS's Star Ratings decision for Plaintiffs, which includes among other things the agency's final decision about Plaintiffs' Star Scores, is a final agency action within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 704.

35. CMS's Star Ratings decision is an "order" constituting an agency's final disposition in a matter other than rule making and, therefore, qualifies as an agency action within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. §§ 551(6) and (13).

36. On October 10, 2024, CMS published the final Star Ratings on the Medicare Plan Finder. CMS's Star Rating decision is a final agency action because the ratings are publicly available and announced for current and potential beneficiaries to consider and rely on during 2025 enrollment.

37. Further, CMS's Star Ratings decision is a final agency action because it determines Plaintiffs' legal rights and obligations and otherwise triggers legal consequences for Plaintiffs, including, but not limited to, impacts to member enrollment and quality bonus payments.

38. Plaintiffs are unable to mitigate the harm resulting from CMS's Star Ratings because CMS lacks a process for relief that could render a decision in time. Federal regulations provide for a non-mandatory informal reconsideration and hearing process for CMS's quality

bonus payment (“QBP”) determinations. 42 C.F.R. § 422.260. But the informal QBP reconsideration process occurs after CMS’s final decision and publication of the Star Ratings and prevents Plaintiffs from raising the challenges raised here as it specifically excludes any consideration of methodology challenges. BCBSMA has utilized the reconsideration process for challenges to the inclusion of a specific call in its D01 call center measure, and that appeal is ongoing.⁵ BCBSMA also reserves the right to utilize the informal QBP reconsideration process where appropriate for additional issues that may be later supplemented here, as applicable.

39. Accordingly, Plaintiffs have been forced to file this action as Plaintiffs stands to suffer reputational harm, loss of potential and actual customers, and millions of dollars unless this Court intervenes.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

First Claim for Relief

(Violation of Administrative Procedure Act – Arbitrary and Capricious Agency Action and Contrary to Law)

40. Plaintiffs incorporate the Paragraphs 1 through 39 of this Complaint as if set forth fully herein.

41. The APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 551-559 and 701-706, provides for judicial review to “[a] person suffering legal wrong because of agency action, or adversely affected or aggrieved by agency action” 5 U.S.C. § 702. Under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), an agency action can be held unlawful and set aside if it is “arbitrary, capricious . . . or otherwise not in accordance with law.”

42. CMS is responsible for administering the Medicare program, including the Medicare Star Rating system.

⁵ Plaintiffs reserve all rights, claims, causes of action, and otherwise, including, but not limited to, the right to amend this Complaint to include any claims related to its D01 call center measure ratings and any administrative decisions related to its D01 claims.

43. CMS violated its regulations and acted arbitrarily and capriciously when it calculated CAHPS measures by adjusting for the case-mix index.

44. CMS's actions damaged Plaintiffs with respect to the measures and overall Star Rating for contracts H2230 and H2261.

45. CMS's arbitrary and capricious conduct and actions contrary to the law have caused Plaintiffs at least \$35 million in damages related to contracts H2230 and H2261 alone in the form of lost quality bonus payments, which would be used to increase benefits to Plaintiffs' members.

46. Plaintiffs therefore respectfully request the relief as prayed for below.

Second Claim for Relief

(Declaratory Judgment)

47. Plaintiffs incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 46 of this Complaint as if set forth fully herein.

48. CMS's calculation of the 2025 Star Ratings is a final agency action made reviewable by 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

49. CMS's calculation of Plaintiffs' 2025 Star Ratings adversely affected and harmed Plaintiffs.

50. Plaintiffs request a declaration from this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 that Defendants' application of the case-mix index to adjust CAHPS measures in calculating Plaintiffs' 2025 Star Ratings violated Defendants' own regulations and is accordingly arbitrary and capricious and contrary to law.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

A. Enter judgment against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiffs for each count alleged in this Complaint;

B. Order Defendants to recalculate CAHPS measures for Plaintiffs' contracts H2230 and H2261 without adjusting for case-mix, consistent with applicable regulations;

C. Order Defendants to recalculate the overall Star Ratings for Plaintiffs' contracts H2230 and H2261 to 4.0 Stars; and

D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: March 7, 2025

Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Lesley C. Reynolds

Lesley C. Reynolds
District of Columbia Bar No. 487580
Lara E. Parkin
District of Columbia Bar No. 475974
David A. Bender
District of Columbia Bar No. 1030503
REED SMITH LLP
1301 K Street, N.W.
Suite 1000 – East Tower
Washington, D.C. 20005
(202) 414-9200 telephone
(202) 414-9299 facsimile
lreynolds@reedsmith.com
lparkin@reedsmith.com
dbender@reedsmith.com

Steven D. Hamilton (*pro hac vice forthcoming*)
Bryan M. Webster (*pro hac vice forthcoming*)
REED SMITH LLP
10 South Wacker Drive
40th Floor
Chicago, IL 60606
(312) 207-1000 telephone
(312) 207-6400 facsimile
shamilton@reedsmith.com
bwebster@reedsmith.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts HMO Blue, Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 7th day of March, 2025, a true and correct copy of this Complaint was filed via the Court's CM/ECF system.

/s/ Lesley C. Reynolds
Lesley C. Reynolds

CIVIL COVER SHEET

JS-44 (Rev. 11/2020 DC)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS		DEFENDANTS	
(b) COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)		COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED DEFENDANT (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED	
(c) ATTORNEYS (FIRM NAME, ADDRESS, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER)		ATTORNEYS (IF KNOWN)	
II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (PLACE AN X IN ONE BOX ONLY)		III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (PLACE AN X IN ONE BOX FOR PLAINTIFF AND ONE BOX FOR DEFENDANT) FOR DIVERSITY CASES ONLY!	
<input type="radio"/> 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff <input type="radio"/> 3 Federal Question (U.S. Government Not a Party)		PTF DFT PTF DFT Citizen of this State <input type="radio"/> 1 <input type="radio"/> 1 Incorporated or Principal Place of Business in This State <input type="radio"/> 4 <input type="radio"/> 4	
<input type="radio"/> 2 U.S. Government Defendant <input type="radio"/> 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in item III)		Citizen of Another State <input type="radio"/> 2 <input type="radio"/> 2 Incorporated and Principal Place of Business in Another State <input type="radio"/> 5 <input type="radio"/> 5	
		Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country <input type="radio"/> 3 <input type="radio"/> 3 Foreign Nation <input type="radio"/> 6 <input type="radio"/> 6	
IV. CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT (Place an X in one category, A-N, that best represents your Cause of Action and one in a corresponding Nature of Suit)			
<input type="radio"/> A. Antitrust 410 Antitrust		<input type="radio"/> B. Personal Injury/ Malpractice 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability 320 Assault, Libel & Slander 330 Federal Employers Liability 340 Marine 345 Marine Product Liability 350 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle Product Liability 360 Other Personal Injury 362 Medical Malpractice 365 Product Liability 367 Health Care/Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability 368 Asbestos Product Liability	
<input type="radio"/> C. Administrative Agency Review 151 Medicare Act <u>Social Security</u> 861 HIA (1395ff) 862 Black Lung (923) 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) 864 SSID Title XVI 865 RSI (405(g)) <u>Other Statutes</u> 891 Agricultural Acts 893 Environmental Matters 890 Other Statutory Actions (If Administrative Agency is Involved)		<input type="radio"/> D. Temporary Restraining Order/Preliminary Injunction Any nature of suit from any category may be selected for this category of case assignment. *(If Antitrust, then A governs)*	
<input type="radio"/> E. General Civil (Other)		OR	
		<input type="radio"/> F. Pro Se General Civil	
<u>Real Property</u> 210 Land Condemnation 220 Foreclosure 230 Rent, Lease & Ejectment 240 Torts to Land 245 Tort Product Liability 290 All Other Real Property		<u>Bankruptcy</u> 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 <u>Prisoner Petitions</u> 535 Death Penalty 540 Mandamus & Other 550 Civil Rights 555 Prison Conditions 560 Civil Detainee – Conditions of Confinement <u>Property Rights</u> 820 Copyrights 830 Patent 835 Patent – Abbreviated New Drug Application 840 Trademark 880 Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (DTSA)	
		<u>Federal Tax Suits</u> 870 Taxes (US plaintiff or defendant) 871 IRS-Third Party 26 USC 7609 <u>Forfeiture/Penalty</u> 625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 690 Other <u>Other Statutes</u> 375 False Claims Act 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) 400 State Reapportionment 430 Banks & Banking 450 Commerce/ICC Rates/etc 460 Deportation 462 Naturalization Application	
		465 Other Immigration Actions 470 Racketeer Influenced & Corrupt Organization 480 Consumer Credit 485 Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA) 490 Cable/Satellite TV 850 Securities/Commodities/ Exchange 896 Arbitration 899 Administrative Procedure Act/Review or Appeal of Agency Decision 950 Constitutionality of State Statutes 890 Other Statutory Actions (if not administrative agency review or Privacy Act)	

<input type="radio"/> G. Habeas Corpus/2255 530 Habeas Corpus – General 510 Motion/Vacate Sentence 463 Habeas Corpus – Alien Detainee	<input type="radio"/> H. Employment Discrimination 442 Civil Rights – Employment (criteria: race, gender/sex, national origin, discrimination, disability, age, religion, retaliation)	<input type="radio"/> I. FOIA/Privacy Act 895 Freedom of Information Act 890 Other Statutory Actions (if Privacy Act)	<input type="radio"/> J. Student Loan 152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loan (excluding veterans)
(If pro se, select this deck)		*(If pro se, select this deck)*	
<input type="radio"/> K. Labor/ERISA (non-employment) 710 Fair Labor Standards Act 720 Labor/Mgmt. Relations 740 Labor Railway Act 751 Family and Medical Leave Act 790 Other Labor Litigation 791 Empl. Ret. Inc. Security Act	<input type="radio"/> L. Other Civil Rights (non-employment) 441 Voting (if not Voting Rights Act) 443 Housing/Accommodations 440 Other Civil Rights 445 Americans w/Disabilities – Employment 446 Americans w/Disabilities – Other 448 Education	<input type="radio"/> M. Contract 110 Insurance 120 Marine 130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument 150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits 160 Stockholder's Suits 190 Other Contracts 195 Contract Product Liability 196 Franchise	<input type="radio"/> N. Three-Judge Court 441 Civil Rights – Voting (if Voting Rights Act)
V. ORIGIN <input type="radio"/> 1 Original Proceeding <input type="radio"/> 2 Removed from State Court <input type="radio"/> 3 Remanded from Appellate Court <input type="radio"/> 4 Reinstated or Reopened <input type="radio"/> 5 Transferred from another district (specify) <input type="radio"/> 6 Multi-district Litigation <input type="radio"/> 7 Appeal to District Judge from Mag. Judge <input type="radio"/> 8 Multi-district Litigation – Direct File			
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION (CITE THE U.S. CIVIL STATUTE UNDER WHICH YOU ARE FILING AND WRITE A BRIEF STATEMENT OF CAUSE.)			
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT	CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION UNDER F.R.C.P. 23	DEMAND \$ JURY DEMAND:	Check YES only if demanded in complaint YES NO
VIII. RELATED CASE(S) IF ANY	(See instruction)	YES NO	If yes, please complete related case form
DATE: _____	SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD _____		

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET JS-44
Authority for Civil Cover Sheet

The JS-44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and services of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. Listed below are tips for completing the civil coversheet. These tips coincide with the Roman Numerals on the cover sheet.

- I.** COUNTY OF RESIDENCE OF FIRST LISTED PLAINTIFF/DEFENDANT (b) County of residence: Use 11001 to indicate plaintiff if resident of Washington, DC, 88888 if plaintiff is resident of United States but not Washington, DC, and 99999 if plaintiff is outside the United States.
- III.** CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES: This section is completed only if diversity of citizenship was selected as the Basis of Jurisdiction under Section II.
- IV.** CASE ASSIGNMENT AND NATURE OF SUIT: The assignment of a judge to your case will depend on the category you select that best represents the primary cause of action found in your complaint. You may select only one category. You must also select one corresponding nature of suit found under the category of the case.
- VI.** CAUSE OF ACTION: Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and write a brief statement of the primary cause.
- VIII.** RELATED CASE(S), IF ANY: If you indicated that there is a related case, you must complete a related case form, which may be obtained from the Clerk's Office.

Because of the need for accurate and complete information, you should ensure the accuracy of the information provided prior to signing the form.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

_____ District of _____

Plaintiff(s)

v.

Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: *(Defendant's name and address)*

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date: _____

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Civil Action No. _____

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for *(name of individual and title, if any)* _____
was received by me on *(date)* _____.

I personally served the summons on the individual at *(place)* _____
on *(date)* _____; or

I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with *(name)* _____
_____, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on *(date)* _____, and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

I served the summons on *(name of individual)* _____, who is
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of *(name of organization)* _____
on *(date)* _____; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because _____; or

Other *(specify)*: _____

My fees are \$ _____ for travel and \$ _____ for services, for a total of \$ _____.

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date: _____

Server's signature

Printed name and title

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

_____ District of _____

Plaintiff(s)

v.

Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: *(Defendant's name and address)*

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date: _____

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Civil Action No. _____

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for *(name of individual and title, if any)* _____
was received by me on *(date)* _____.

I personally served the summons on the individual at *(place)* _____
on *(date)* _____; or

I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with *(name)* _____
_____, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on *(date)* _____, and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

I served the summons on *(name of individual)* _____, who is
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of *(name of organization)* _____
on *(date)* _____; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because _____; or

Other *(specify)*: _____

My fees are \$ _____ for travel and \$ _____ for services, for a total of \$ _____.

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date: _____

Server's signature

Printed name and title

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

_____ District of _____

Plaintiff(s)

v.

Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: *(Defendant's name and address)*

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

ANGELA D. CAESAR, CLERK OF COURT

Date: _____

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Civil Action No. _____

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for *(name of individual and title, if any)* _____
was received by me on *(date)* _____.

I personally served the summons on the individual at *(place)* _____
on *(date)* _____; or

I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with *(name)* _____
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on *(date)* _____, and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

I served the summons on *(name of individual)* _____, who is
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of *(name of organization)* _____
on *(date)* _____; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because _____; or

Other *(specify)*: _____

My fees are \$ _____ for travel and \$ _____ for services, for a total of \$ _____.

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date: _____

Server's signature

Printed name and title

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: